FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 10/18/2018 2:16 PM SUPREME COURT NO. 96453-0 COA NO. 76137-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

IN RE DETENTION OF PAUL HARELL:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

PAUL HARELL,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR ISLAND COUNTY

The Honorable Vickie I. Churchill, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER		
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION		
C.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE1		
	1.	Pre-trial Motions 1	
	2.	Unconditional Release Trial 3	
	3.	Appeal	
E.	<u>ARGI</u>	JMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 6	
	1. EXPERT TESTIMONY DIAGNOSING HARELL WITH PERSONALITY DISORDER AND ALCOHOL DISORDE WAS IRRELEVANT		
	a.	Only certain mental disorders qualify for consideration under the statute, and the risk of reoffense must be linked to those disorders in order to justify civil commitment	
	b.	Evidence that Harell had a personality disorder was irrelevant because is not a mental abnormality, and the jury could only find Harell continued to meet the SVP definition if a mental abnormality made him likely to reoffend	
	c.	Evidence that Harell had an alcohol use disorder was irrelevant because is not a mental abnormality, and the jury could only find Harell continued to meet the SVP definition if a mental abnormality made him likely to reoffend 12	
	d.	There is no precedent on the relevancy issue 17	
	e.	The error prejudiced the outcome 19	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

F	CONCLUSION	20
1,	<u>CONCLOSION</u>	<i>4</i> 0

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES

Berschauer/Phillips Constr. Co. v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 124 Wn.2d 816, 881 P.2d 986 (1994)		
<u>Driggs v. Howlett,</u> 193 Wn. App. 875, 371 P.3d 61 (2016), <u>review denied,</u> 186 Wn.2d 1007, 380 P.3d 450 (2016)		
<u>In re Detention. of Audett,</u> 158 Wn.2d 712, 147 P.3d 982 (2006)17-18		
<u>In re Detention of Brooks</u> , 145 Wn.2d 275, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001), <u>overruled on other grounds by</u> <u>In re Detention of Thorell</u> , 149 Wn.2d 724, 753, 72 P.3d 708 (2003)		
<u>In re Detention of Coe</u> , 175 Wn.2d 482, 286 P.3d 29 (2012)19		
<u>In re Detention of Froats,</u> 134 Wn. App. 420, 140 P.3d 622, 627 (2006), <u>review denied</u> , 60 Wn.2d 1022, 163 P.3d 795 (2007)		
<u>In re Detention of Halgren,</u> 156 Wn.2d 795, 132 P.3d 714 (2006)9		
<u>In re Detention of Hawkins,</u> 169 Wn.2d 796, 238 P.3d 1175 (2010)13-14		
<u>In re of Detention of Monroe,</u> 198 Wn. App. 196, 392 P.3d 1088 (2017)		
<u>In re Detention of Morgan,</u> 180 Wn.2d 312, 330 P.3d 774 (2014)		
<u>In re Detention of Post,</u> 170 Wn.2d 302, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010)		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES

In re Detention of Sease, 149 Wn. App. 66, 201 P.3d 1078, review denied, 166 Wn.2d 1029, 217 P.3d 337 (2009)
<u>In re Detention of Thorell,</u> 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708, 720 (2003), <u>cert. denied,</u> 541 U.S. 990, 124 S. Ct. 2015, 158 L. Ed. 2d 496 (2004)16-17
<u>In re Elec. Lightwave, Inc.,</u> 123 Wn.2d 530, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994)
Lutheran Day Care v. Snohomish County, 119 Wn.2d 91, 829 P.2d 746 (1992)10
Pac. Nw. Annual Conference of United Methodist Church v. Walla Walla County, 82 Wn.2d 138, 508 P.2d 1361 (1973)14
<u>State v. Delgado,</u> 148 Wn.2d 723, 63 P.3d 792 (2003)13
<u>State v. Hamedian,</u> 188 Wn. App. 560, 354 P.3d 937 (2015)
<u>State v. Watson</u> , 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)7
<u>Thomas v. French,</u> 99 Wn.2d 95, 659 P.2d 1097 (1983)
Washington State Republican Party v. Washington State Public Disclosure Comm'n, 141 Wn.2d 245, 280, 4 P.3d 808 (2000)14

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

<u>Kansas v. Crane,</u> 534 U.S. 407, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002) 16
<u>Kansas v. Hendricks,</u> 521 U.S. 346, 117 S. Ct. 2072, 138 L. Ed. 2d 501 (1997)6
OTHER AUTHORITIES
15 L. Orland & K. Tegland, Wash. Prac., Judgments § 380 (4th ed. 1986).
Chapter 71.09 RCW 1, 8
ER 4011, 10, 12
ER 402
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
RCW 71.09.020(8)
RCW 71.09.020(9)
RCW 71.09.020(18)
RCW 71.09.090(3)(c)
RCW 71.09.060(1)
RCW 71.09.090(3)(c)

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Paul Harell asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Harell requests review of the published decision in <u>In re Detention</u> of <u>Paul Harell</u>, Court of Appeals No. 76137-4-I. The opinion and publication order, entered September 18, 2018, are attached as appendix A.

C. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Where the State's expert did not identify the diagnosed personality disorder and alcohol use disorder as a mental abnormality that makes Harell likely to reoffend and the trial court instructed the jury solely on mental abnormality as the basis to commit, whether the trial court erred in permitting the jury to consider evidence of the personality disorder and alcohol use disorder because it was irrelevant under ER 401?

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

In 2011, Paul Harell stipulated to meeting the definition of a sexually violent predator (SVP) under chapter 71.09 RCW. Ex. 52. In 2016, the court ordered an unconditional release trial. CP 373-75.

1. Pre-trial Motions

Before trial, Harell's counsel moved to exclude evidence of Harell's diagnoses for antisocial personality disorder and alcohol use disorder. 365-66. Dr. Goldberg, the State's expert, testified in deposition that other specified paraphilic disorder (nonconsensual sex) constitutes Harell's mental abnormality. CP 360. The issues for the jury were whether this paraphilic disorder caused Harell serious difficulty in controlling his behavior and whether that same disorder makes him likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined to a secure facility. CP 365-66. Counsel argued the other diagnosed mental disorders — antisocial personality disorder and alcohol use disorder — should be excluded because they were irrelevant to those issues. CP 366.

The State opposed Harell's motion, arguing each diagnosis was relevant to Goldberg's opinion on mental abnormality and future risk because their combination affected Harell's volitional capacity. CP 642-43, 645-46; RP¹ 56. The court denied Harell's motion to exclude evidence of antisocial personality disorder and alcohol abuse disorder on the ground that the "jury needs to understand how each diagnosis, either individually or in combination with one another, yields a mental abnormality and/or a Personality Disorder." RP 62-63; CP 16.

¹ This brief cites to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: eight consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 10/11/16, 10/12/16, 10/13/16, 10/14/16, 10/17/16, 10/18/16, 10/19/16, 10/20/16.

2. Unconditional Release Trial

The last time Harell lived unconstrained in the community was 1993, when he was arrested for rape offenses at the age of 21. RP 304, 307, 314, 318. Harell acknowledged he committed rapes. RP 318-23; RP 314-15, 320-25, 700-40, 768-802, 812-37, 850-900. The last offense occurred in 1993, over 20 years before trial. RP 843. Harell expressed remorse for what he had done. RP 954-55. He engaged sex offender treatment and lived in a less restrictive alternative setting at the time of trial. RP 252-53, 906, 932-33, 958, 1046, 1052-53, 1071-72.

Dr. Goldberg testified that he diagnosed Harell with other specified paraphilic disorder (nonconsensual sex), antisocial personality disorder and alcohol use disorder. RP 422, 428-29, 433, 447. He identified the paraphilic disorder diagnosis as Harell's current mental abnormality, which caused him serious difficulty in controlling sexually violent behavior. RP 443-46, 523-24. He further opined this mental abnormality makes Harell likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. RP 452, 505.

Dr. Goldberg distinguished between the personality disorder and the mental abnormality. RP 442-43. When asked if Harell suffered from a personality disorder as that term is used in the SVP definition, Goldberg answered "I think it's more of an exacerbating factor. I think the primary disorder here is a mental abnormality." RP 442. He later testified that the antisocial personality disorder carries traits that "exacerbate the paraphilic disorder," making the paraphilic disorder "more likely to be expressed." RP 446-47. These traits included impulsivity, lack of inhibition regarding social norms, and lack of remorse. RP 446-47. Goldberg did not think the antisocial personality disorder alone would cause Harell to commit future sexual crimes; it was not the driving force behind his rapes. RP 550-51.

When asked how Harell's alcohol use disorder interacted with Harell's mental abnormality, Goldberg said the alcohol use disorder is a risk factor, "that if he started using alcohol again, it would decrease his inhibitions." RP 449. Goldberg continued: "Now, alcohol use is not a requirement for him to rape somebody because there are, as we mentioned, there are --Some of the rapes were done without alcohol, when he wasn't intoxicated. But, like anybody, if you're intoxicated, you're going to be less inhibited, you're going to be more impulsive. And this would be a risk factor for him." RP 444-50. In this manner, the alcohol use disorder interplayed with the mental abnormality in causing Harell serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior. RP 450.

Harell acknowledged alcohol was a long-term issue in his life, and that he drank during the period when the 1992 and 1993 rapes occurred. RP 334, 848-50. Harell recognized his risk factors, including alcohol. RP

- 4 -

381-82. Goldberg testified that Harell was progressing and motivated to do well in treatment, which was a protective factor in assessing risk. RP 390, 496. Since Goldberg's initial 2009 assessment, Harell had changed through treatment, but it did not negate his mental abnormality and future risk. RP 504. According to Goldberg, treatment had mitigated Harell's risk, but he still had "a way to go." RP 654-55, 677.

Harell's treatment provider, Dr. O'Connell, testified that Harell had progressed in treatment and was working on managing his risk factors. RP 1053, 1075-78, 1084,1090, 1104, 1129-44, 1153-54. Based on risk assessment instruments, O'Connell placed Harell in the low-moderate range of risk. RP 1098. The two highest risk factors based on research are deviant sexual arousal and antisocial behavior. RP 1096. Harell was not regularly antisocial. RP 1097. In the last two and a half years, Harell had not reported sexual urges regarding rape, and polygraph testing supported his assertion about the lack of deviant sexual arousal. RP 1096-97. Harell testified that he was a different person now, having matured and done treatment. RP 955. The jury nonetheless found Harell continued to meet the SVP definition. CP 18.

3. Appeal

Harell argued the trial court committed reversible error in admitting evidence of the antisocial personality disorder and alcohol use disorder diagnoses because such evidence was irrelevant. The Court of Appeals disagreed, holding "the diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder and alcohol abuse disorder is relevant to whether the mental abnormality makes Harell more likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence." In re Detention of Harell, 426 P.3d 260, 265-66 (2018).

E. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED</u>

1. EXPERT TESTIMONY DIAGNOSING HARELL WITH A PERSONALITY DISORDER AND ALCOHOL DISORDER WAS IRRELEVANT.

In this state people are involuntarily committed based on predictions of future criminality. Courts, as guardians of the integrity of this civil commitment scheme, must ensure it does not stray from its intended purpose. As a matter of due process, someone must be mentally ill and dangerous. <u>Kansas v. Hendricks</u>, 521 U.S. 346, 357-58, 117 S. Ct. 2072, 138 L. Ed. 2d 501 (1997). As a matter of statutory law, not just any mental illness will do. By statute, the trier of fact is limited to considering whether a statutorily defined mental abnormality or personality disorder causes a person to sexually reoffend. RCW 71.09.020(18). The statute does not authorize consideration of any other mental disorder in assessing risk, such as the alcohol disorder at issue here. Further, the basis of commitment is limited by the court's instructions to the jury under the law of the case doctrine. The "to commit" instruction required the State to prove Harell suffers from a mental abnormality and that this mental abnormality alone makes him more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence. CP 26. Expert testimony about Harell's personality disorder and alcohol disorder diagnoses was irrelevant because the jury was not instructed on personality disorder as a means to commit Harell, and neither diagnosis was identified by the State's expert as a mental abnormality. The trial court thus erred in allowing the jury to consider mental conditions that were extraneous to what the jury needed to decide.

A decision that potentially affects numerous proceedings in the lower courts warrants review as an issue of substantial public interest where review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue. <u>State v. Watson</u>, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). The question of whether the basis of commitment is limited by how the jury is instructed is an issue of substantial public importance because it arises in any SVP case where the jury is instructed on only one alternative means as a basis to commit, to the exclusion of the other means. Further, whether the trier of fact can rely on mental conditions that do not qualify as mental abnormalities or personality disorders in deciding whether someone meets the SVP definition is a recurring issue. For these reasons, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

a. Only certain mental disorders qualify for consideration under the statute, and the risk of reoffense must be linked to those disorders in order to justify civil commitment.

Chapter 71.09 RCW authorizes the initial commitment, and the continued commitment, of those found to meet the SVP definition. RCW 71.09.060(1); RCW 71.09.090(3)(c). An SVP is "any person who has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18).

The third element of the definition is "a compound determination that requires finding both causation (i.e., the abnormality or disorder causes the likelihood of future acts), and that 'the probability of the defendant's reoffending exceeds 50 percent." <u>In re Detention of Post</u>, 170 Wn.2d 302, 310, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010) (internal citation omitted) (quoting <u>In re Detention of Brooks</u>, 145 Wn.2d 275, 298, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001), <u>overruled on other grounds by In re Detention of Thorell</u>, 149 Wn.2d 724, 753, 72 P.3d 708 (2003)). The second and third elements are not detached from one another. The jury is not tasked with determining whether a person has a mental abnormality or personality disorder and then determining whether that person is likely to reoffend without regard to the mental abnormality or personality disorder. The qualifying mental condition must be causally linked to the risk of reoffense. <u>Post</u>, 170 Wn.2d at 310.

"The State does not have to prove both a mental abnormality and a personality disorder." <u>In re of Detention of Monroe</u>, 198 Wn. App. 196, 202, 392 P.3d 1088 (2017). Rather, "mental abnormality" and "personality disorder" are distinct alternative means of establishing the mental illness element in SVP cases. <u>In re Detention of Halgren</u>, 156 Wn.2d 795, 810-11, 132 P.3d 714 (2006). Each has its own statutory definition.²

b. Evidence that Harell had a personality disorder was irrelevant because is not a mental abnormality, and the jury could only find Harell continued to meet the SVP definition if a mental abnormality made him likely to reoffend.

The jury in Harell's case was not instructed that it could find Harell met the SVP definition on the basis of a personality disorder. Instead, the "to commit" instruction was limited to the mental abnormality means. CP

² "Mental abnormality" means "a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting such person a menace to the health and safety of others." RCW 71.09.020(8). The jury received an instruction defining "mental abnormality," which tracked the statutory definition. CP 27. "Personality disorder" means "an enduring pattern of inner experience and behavior that deviates markedly from the expectations of the individual's culture, is pervasive and inflexible, has onset in adolescence or early adulthood, is stable over time and leads to distress or impairment." RCW 71.09.020(9). The court gave no instruction defining "personality disorder."

26. Under the law of the case doctrine, "instructions given to the jury by the trial court, if not objected to, shall be treated as the properly applicable law." <u>Lutheran Day Care v. Snohomish County</u>, 119 Wn.2d 91, 113, 829 P.2d 746 (1992) (quoting 15 L. Orland & K. Tegland, Wash. Prac., Judgments § 380, at 56 (4th ed. 1986)). The question for the jury, then, was whether the mental abnormality, standing alone, makes Harell likely to reoffend.

Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of a fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. Irrelevant evidence is inadmissible. ER 402. The existence of the personality disorder in Harell's case does not make it more probable that a mental abnormality makes Harell likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. It is only by considering the personality disorder *in addition to* the mental abnormality that the personality disorder contributes to the risk of re-offense. But this is precisely what the jury instruction prevented because it was limited to whether the mental abnormality makes Harell likely to reoffend. Based on the way the jury was instructed, it could not consider the personality disorder as contributing to risk of reoffense.

Evidence of personality disorder is irrelevant where the State's expert does not rely on personality disorder as one of the alternative means for commitment and the jury is not instructed on personality disorder as a means for commitment. The "to commit" instruction determines the facts of consequence in an unconditional release trial. A personality disorder is not a mental abnormality and Dr. Goldberg did not treat it as such. Goldberg did not think the personality disorder alone would cause Harell to commit future sexual crimes and agreed this disorder was not really the driving force behind Harell's rapes. RP 550-51. Unlike the diagnosed mental abnormality (RP 444-45), Goldberg did not testify that a personality disorder predisposes Harell to commit criminal sexual acts or that it causes him serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior.

Where, as here, the jury is only instructed that it must find a mental abnormality makes the person likely to reoffend (CP 26), the jury has no basis to rely on the existence of a personality disorder as a form of mental illness that increases risk of reoffense. Evidence of Harell's personality disorder was irrelevant to the mental abnormality-focused question the jury had to answer in order to find Harell met the statutory criteria for commitment. It was therefore improper to allow Dr. Goldberg to testify that Harell suffered from a personality disorder and that this disorder contributed to his risk of reoffense. Testimony on the personality disorder was inadmissible under ER 401 because the "to commit" instruction did not authorize the jury to consider evidence of a personality disorder in deciding whether the State had proven its case. Based on Dr. Goldberg's pre-trial evaluation, it was known at the time of the court's ruling that Goldberg identified the paraphilic disorder as the mental abnormality. The jury was only authorized to consider whether a mental abnormality, standing alone, made Harell more likely than not to sexually reoffend, not whether the personality disorder did, even as a contributing factor. The trial court thus erred in permitting the State to rely on personality disorder evidence to meet its burden that Harell suffered from a mental abnormality that made him likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility.

c. Evidence that Harell had an alcohol use disorder was irrelevant because is not a mental abnormality, and the jury could only find Harell continued to meet the SVP definition if a mental abnormality made him likely to reoffend.

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