FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/19/2018 4:42 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96453-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Paul Harell:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

PAUL HARELL,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KELLY A. PARADIS WSBA #47175 / OID #91094 Assistant Attorney General Attorney for the State of Washington 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3001

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

Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401 (emphasis added). In a sexually violent predator trial, "evidence is relevant only if it increases or decreases the likelihood that a fact exists that is consequential to the jury's determination of whether the respondent is a sexually violent predator." West, 171 Wn.2d at 397. "Because relevance is a judgment dependent on the surrounding facts, the trial court enjoys broad discretion in deciding whether evidence is relevant" to the sexually violent predator determination. Id.

In an unconditional release trial, the State has the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the individual continues to meet the definition of a sexually violent predator. RCW 71.09.090(3)(c). A "sexually violent predator" is "any person who has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18). "Mental abnormality" and "personality disorder" are defined by statute. RCW 71.09.020(8), (9). The State need not prove both a mental abnormality and a personality disorder. Rather, these are alternative means for making the sexually violent predator determination. *In re Det. of Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 810, 132 P.3d 714 (2006).

Here, the trial court instructed the jury that a mental abnormality was grounds for commitment. CP 26. It did not instruct the jury that a personality disorder was grounds for commitment. Jury Instruction 5 correctly set forth the burden of proof. It required the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) "That Paul Harell was previously found to be a sexually violent predator;" (2) "That Paul Harell continues to suffer from a mental abnormality which causes him serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior"; and (3) "The mental abnormality continues to make Paul Harell likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence unless

confined to a secure facility." CP 26, RP 1188.¹ The third element is a "compound determination" that requires finding both causation and that the probability of the respondent's reoffending exceeds 50 percent. *In re Det. of Post*, 170 Wn.2d 302, 310, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010).

As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, and as Harell conceded in a pretrial hearing, evidence of Harell's antisocial personality disorder and alcohol use disorder is relevant to the third element—whether the mental abnormality makes Harell likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence. *Harell*, 426 P.3d at 265-66; *see also* RP at 54-55 (conceding that these disorders are relevant to "his ultimate risk").

Dr. Goldberg's testimony directly linked Harell's antisocial personality disorder to his inability to control his sexually violent behavior such that he is likely to re-offend. Dr. Goldberg diagnosed Harell with antisocial personality disorder based on Harell's failure to conform to social norms, deceitfulness, impulsivity, irritability, aggressiveness, reckless disregard, consistent irresponsibility, and lack of remorse. RP 436-37. He testified that Harell's antisocial personality disorder "interplay[s]" with his mental abnormality, which causes him serious difficulty in controlling his

¹ A separate instruction defined "mental abnormality" as "a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to commit criminal sexual acts to a degree that makes the person a menace to the health and safety of others." CP 27.

sexually violent behavior. RP 446-47. Specifically, he testified that some of Harell's antisocial traits "exacerbate" the paraphilic disorder, making it "more likely to be expressed." RP 447. Dr. Goldberg considered Harell's antisocial traits when he conducted his risk assessment and identified many as risk factors. *See* RP 483-89. Dr. Goldberg ultimately concluded that Harell could not be safely unconditionally released. RP 504.

Harell's witness, Dr. O'Connell, also connected antisocial personality traits to increased risk of re-offense. He testified, "the two highest risk factors – from years of research – are deviant sexual arousal and antisocial behavior." RP 1096. And he testified that if an individual has both of those traits, "it increases risk of reoffense by a substantial amount." RP 1096. Thus, as demonstrated by the testimony of both experts, evidence of Harell's antisocial personality disorder is directly relevant to assessing whether Harell is likely to commit future predatory acts of sexual violence.

Evidence of Harell's alcohol use disorder is relevant for the same reason. Dr. Goldberg diagnosed Harell with alcohol use disorder based on Harell's own statements and offending history. RP 448-49. Harell acknowledges that alcohol has been a long-term issue in his life, that he drank during the period of time that the rapes occurred, and that alcohol is a trigger for his offending. RP 334, 848-50, 449-50.

Dr. Goldberg's testimony directly linked Harell's alcohol use disorder to his inability to control his sexually violent behavior and risk of re-offense. Dr. Goldberg testified that Harell's alcohol use disorder also "interplay[s]" with his mental abnormality, affecting his ability to control his sexually violent behavior. RP 450. Dr. Goldberg testified that alcohol use disorder is a "risk factor" for Harell, because if he started using alcohol again, it would decrease his inhibitions. RP 449-50. In short, as seen by Harell's admissions and Dr. Goldberg's testimony, evidence of Harell's alcohol use disorder is also relevant to whether Harell is likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence.

2. Neither the statute nor the jury instructions preclude the admission of this diagnostic testimony

Harell relies on the statute defining "sexually violent predator" and the jury instructions to argue that testimony about his other mental disorders was inadmissible. Pet. at 6-7, 9-16. He claims that the statute "does not authorize consideration of any other mental disorder in assessing risk." Pet. at 6. And he claims that because the jury was instructed only on the mental abnormality means, the State was required to prove that the mental abnormality "standing alone" made him likely to re-offend. Pet. at 10, 12.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected these arguments. Nothing supports Harell's assertion that the statute and jury instructions preclude

consideration of this diagnostic testimony. In fact, the plain language of the statute and the jury instructions support the conclusion that evidence of an individual's mental disorders and other risk factors are relevant when assessing an individual's risk of re-offense. The statute expressly requires the factfinder to consider whether the mental abnormality "makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence" RCW 71.09.020(18) (emphasis added). Thus, the particular individual's characteristics, personality traits, habits, and full mental condition are essential to this inquiry. Similarly, the jury instructions required the jury to consider whether "the mental abnormality continues to make *Paul Harell* likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence." CP 26 (emphasis added). Accordingly, consideration of Harell's individual characteristics, including his full mental condition, was an important part of this inquiry.

In addition, Harell's argument is incompatible with the science behind risk assessments and with his own strategy at trial. As this Court has explained, experts often consider "a wide range of risk factors" when assessing an individual's dangerousness. *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 753, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). Those may include "protective factors," which mitigate risk. *See* RP at 492. Both experts testified about protective factors in this case. *See* RP 492-97, 1088. For example, Dr. Goldberg testified that Harell's age and participation in treatment

reduced his risk of re-offense. RP 493-96. And Dr. O'Connell also testified about Harell's progress in treatment. RP 1152-53. Harell did not object to this evidence, which was to his benefit. But it remains to be explained how under Harell's view of the law—where the jury can consider *only* the mental abnormality—testimony about these mitigating factors would not also be irrelevant. And if that were the case, it would often work to the detriment of the respondent, by preventing the jury from considering factors that *lower* the risk of re-offense, such as successful alcohol treatment.

Lastly, despite Harell's claims to the contrary, admission of this testimony does not pose a constitutional problem. *See* Pet. at 16-17. The State is required to establish a link between a mental abnormality and the likelihood of future acts of sexual violence. *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 742-43, 761-62. But the State met that requirement when Dr. Goldberg testified that the paraphilic disorder causes Harell serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior and makes him likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence. RP 445-46, 452-53. The admission of evidence of Harrell's other disorders did not "sever" that link. Instead, it established Harell's even *greater* risk of re-offense by showing that these disorders exacerbate Harell's paraphilic disorder, affect his ability to control his sexually violent behavior, and contribute to his risk of recidivism. Rather than undermine substantive due process, this evidence helps ensure that courts are

distinguishing the "dangerous sexual offender" from the "dangerous but typical recidivist." *See Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 732 (quoting *Kansas v. Crane*, 534 U.S. 407, 413, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002)).

3. Both this Court and the Court of Appeals have recognized that the factfinder may consider various factors when assessing an individual's risk of re-offense

Both this Court and the Court of Appeals have recognized that the factfinder may consider various risk factors when assessing an individual's risk of re-offense. The opinion in this case is consistent with those decisions.

In rejecting Harell's evidentiary challenge, the Court of Appeals properly looked to this Court's decision in *In re Det. of Audett*, 158 Wn.2d 712, 147 P.3d 982 (2006) and the Court of Appeals' decision in *In re Det. of Sease*, 149 Wn. App. 66, 201 P.3d 1078 (2009). Although those cases involved sufficiency challenges, they both support the court's conclusion that the diagnostic testimony challenged in this case is relevant to assessing risk of re-offense. In *Audett* and *Sease*, the courts relied on evidence of other risk factors, including alcoholism and additional mental disorders, to conclude that the State offered sufficient proof of the individuals' likelihood of re-offense.

In *Audett*, it was undisputed that Audett suffered from pedophilia, a mental abnormality or personality disorder under the statute. 158 Wn.2d at 728. Audett argued only that the State presented insufficient proof of the

following element: "That such mental abnormality or personality disorder makes [Audett] likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." *Id.* at 727. This Court rejected his challenge. In doing so, it relied on evidence of other risk factors in addition to Audett's pedophilia diagnosis. *Id.* at 728-29. In particular, it relied on testimony from both experts that "Audett's inability to control his alcoholism was a significant additional factor contributing to his risk of re-offense, as was his lack of knowledge regarding his offending patterns." *Id.* at 729.

In *Sease*, it was undisputed that Sease suffered from at least one personality disorder. 149 Wn. App. at 79. He argued only that the State failed to prove a "risk to reoffend which stems from a mental disorder." *Id.* The Court of Appeals rejected this argument. *Id.* at 79-80. In doing so, it relied on evidence of Sease's alcohol dependency and narcissistic personality disorder, which the State's expert had characterized as "other risk considerations." *Id.* at 72. The court pointed to this testimony as evidence "that Sease's borderline and antisocial personality disorders, combined with the risk factors of alcohol dependency and narcissistic personality disorder, caused Sease to be more likely to reoffend if he was not confined to a secure facility." *Id.* at 79-80.

As Harell concedes, both *Audett* and *Sease* demonstrate that courts have long relied on other risk factors, including alcoholism and other mental

disorders, when assessing an individual's risk of re-offense. *See* Pet. at 19. This Court's decision in *In re Detention of Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 132 P.3d 714 (2006) provides additional support. There, this Court recognized that the two alternative means—mental abnormality and personality disorder—"may work in conjunction." 156 Wn.2d at 810. While this case is not an alternative means case, it nonetheless supports the conclusion that other mental disorders may be relevant.

Finally, although this is the first published case addressing the relevancy of this type of diagnostic testimony, the Court of Appeals has consistently rejected this same argument in unpublished decisions, and this Court has denied review. *See In re Det. of Halvorson*, No. 32762-1-III, 2016 WL 4259134, at *2-3 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 11, 2016) (unpublished), *review denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1006 (2017); *In re Det. of Dillingham*, No. 68147-8-I, 2013 WL 3990891, at *6 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 5, 2013) (unpublished), *review denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1004 (2013).² There is no reason for this Court to depart from those settled decisions.

In addition, the evidence admitted in this case is not materially different from other evidence of risk, which has withstood similar challenges. For example, in *In re Personal Restraint of Duncan*,

² Citation to these unpublished opinions is in accordance with GR 14.1.

167 Wn.2d 398, 405, 219 P.3d 666 (2009), this Court held that evidence that the respondent planned to live with another convicted sex offender upon release was relevant information in a sexually violent predator commitment proceeding. In *Thorell*, this Court held that actuarial evidence and predictions about future dangerousness has high probative value and is "directly relevant" to whether an individual should be committed as a sexually violent predator. 149 Wn.2d at 758. And in *In re Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 53, 857 P.2d 989 (1993), this Court held that victim testimony about prior crimes was relevant, because "prior sexual history is highly probative of his or her propensity for future violence." Because the evidence in this case is probative for the same reasons, review of this case is unnecessary.

B. Review of This Case Is Unwarranted Because even if the Admission of This Testimony Was Error, It Was Harmless

Even if there was a question about the relevance of the evidence, the error was harmless. An evidentiary error is "not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). "The improper admission of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole." *Id*.

Here, the outcome of the trial would not have been different had the evidence of Harrell's other disorders been excluded. Harell does not dispute that the State presented sufficient evidence to support commitment based solely on his paraphilic disorder. He readily acknowledges expert testimony that the paraphilic disorder causes him serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior and makes him likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence. *See* Pet. at 3. Further, the evidence of the other disorders was of minor significance, particularly given that the jury instructions prevented the jury from relying on either disorder as the basis for commitment. *See State v. Grisby*, 97 Wn.2d 493, 499, 647 P.2d 6 (1982) (the jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions). In short, the admission of testimony about Harrell's other diagnoses did not affect the final outcome of this case.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks that this Court deny review.